

Cleveland State University EngagedScholarship@CSU

ETD Archive

2016

An Exploration of Parenting Styles, Emotion Regulation, Depression, and Culture's Role

Krysten L. Monzon

Follow this and additional works at: https://engagedscholarship.csuohio.edu/etdarchive



Part of the Psychology Commons

How does access to this work benefit you? Let us know!

Recommended Citation

Monzon, Krysten L., "An Exploration of Parenting Styles, Emotion Regulation, Depression, and Culture's Role" (2016). ETD Archive. 897.

https://engagedscholarship.csuohio.edu/etdarchive/897

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by EngagedScholarship@CSU. It has been accepted for inclusion in ETD Archive by an authorized administrator of EngagedScholarship@CSU. For more information, please contact library.es@csuohio.edu.

AN EXPLORATION OF PARENTING STYLES, EMOTION REGULATION, DEPRESSION, AND CULTURE'S ROLE

Krysten L. Monzon

Bachelor of Science in Psychology

Western Michigan University

May 2012

Submitted in partial fulfillment of requirements for the degree

MASTER OF ARTS IN PSYCHOLOGY

at the

CLEVELAND STATE UNIVERSITY

May 2016

We hereby approve this thesis for

Krysten Lynn Monzon

Candidate for the Master of Arts in Psychology degree for the

Department of Psychology

and the CLEVELAND STATE UNIVERSITY

College of Graduate Studies

Thesis Chairperson, (Dr. Yaroslavsky)	
Department & Date	
Thesis Committee Member, (Professor Gaynier)	
Department & Date	
Thesis Committee Member, (Dr. France)	
Donortwood & Data	
Department & Date Student's Date of Defense: (5/11/16)	

AN EXPLORATION OF PARENTING STYLES, EMOTION REGULATION, DEPRESSION, AND CULTURE'S ROLE

KRYSTEN L. MONZON

ABSTRACT

The present research examined whether cultural background had an effect on depressive symptoms through parenting style and emotion regulation strategies. Recent literature suggests that parenting styles differ across cultures, thus leading to different levels of depressive symptoms as a result differences of parenting styles aligning with cultural values. Additionally, it is suggested that some emotion regulation strategies are harmful in western cultures, but are not in collectivistic culture. Lastly, it is suggested that certain parenting techniques foster both harmful and helpful emotion regulation strategies. Participants (N=83) completed measures of PAQ (Parental Authority Questionnaire), ERQ (Emotion Regulation Questionnaire), and CES-D (Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale). Multiple mediation, mediated-moderation, and moderated-mediation analyses were used to examine these relationships. Results found that permissive parenting style was correlated with age and suppression in western sample, while authoritarian parenting styles, age, and reappraisal were correlated to depression, and sex and permissive parenting style were related to suppression. Further analyses showed that permissive parenting was related to increased depression and suppression, while authoritarian parenting were also related to increased depression. Additionally, analyses showed that hailing from an Arab background led to increased use of suppression. Lastly, analyses showed that being from a collectivistic culture did not assume these

relationships. Findings partially support current literature, and suggest that generations in the US, along with dimensions of parenting styles should be considered for understanding emotion regulation strategies and depression risk.

Keywords: depression, excessive reassurance seeking, parenting styles, culture

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT · · · · III
LIST OF TABLES VII
I. INTRODUCTION
1.1 Parenting Styles and Depression · · · · 2
1.2 Mother's Parenting Styles · · · · 4
1.3 Parenting Styles and Emotion Regulation ····· 6
1.4 Process Model of Emotion Regulation ····· 8
1.5 Emotion Regulation and Depression ····· 9
II. CULTURE · · · · 13
2.1 Parenting Styles · · · · 13
2.2 Emotion Regulation 16
III. THIS STUDY 20
IV. METHODS ····· 22
4.1 Participants · · · · 22
4.2 Measures
4.3 Procedures
4.4 Analyses
4.5 Power ·
V. RESULTS ····· 26
5.1 General Descriptive Analyses · · · · · 26

	5.2 Discussion · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	29
	5.2.1 Parenting Style and Depression · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	29
	5.2.2 Parenting Styles and Emotion Regulation · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	31
	5.2.3 Emotion Regulation and Depression · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	32
	5.3 Cultural Difference in Study Variables ·····	32
	5.4 Limitations · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	34
	5.5 Future Direction ·····	36
REFE	RENCES	38
APPF	NDICES	65

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Descriptive statistics and group comparisons of demographics, parenting styles
emotion regulation, and depression between Western samples (n=57) and Arab
(n=26) samples.
Table 2. Correlations among demographics characteristics, parenting styles, emotion
regulation, and depression between Western sample (lower triangle) and Arab
sample (upper triangle).
Table 3. Multiple regression analysis of demographics, culture, and parenting style
effects on depression.
Table 4. Multiple regression analysis of demographics, culture, and parenting style
effects on suppression.
Table 5. Multiple regression analysis of demographics, culture, and parenting style
effects on reappraisal
Table 6. Multiple regression analysis of demographics, culture, parenting style and
emotion regulation effects on depression
Table 7. Moderation of culture on the effects of permissive parenting style on emotional
suppression
Table 8. Moderation of culture on the effects of authoritarian parenting style on
emotional suppression
Table 9. Moderation of culture on the effects of authoritative parenting style on emotional
suppression
Table 10. Moderation of culture on the effects of permissive parenting style on emotional
reappraisal

Table 11. Moderation of culture on the effects of authoritarian parenting style on	
emotional reappraisal.	76
Table 12. Moderation of culture on the effects of authoritative parenting style on	
emotional reappraisal.	77
Table 13. Moderation of culture on the effects of permissive parenting style on	
depression	78
Table 14. Moderation of culture on the effects of authoritarian parenting style on	
depression	79
Table 15: Moderation of culture on the effects of authoritative parenting style on	
depression	80

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

Depression is a disorder marked by enduring negative mood that effects more than 350 million people worldwide of all ages (Marcus, Yasamy, Ommeren, & Chisholm, 2012). It is characterized by persistent feelings of sadness, as well as a loss of interest in things that are normally pleasurable, affecting how you think, feel, and behave (DSM-V) (American Psychological Association, 2013, p. 155). It is associated with a wide range of other mental disorders that exacerbate the adverse effects of depression on the individual and society at large (Kessler & Walters, 1998; Hirschfeld, Hasin, Kell, Endicott, & Wunder, 1999). While the etiology of depression is not clear, several risk factors like parenting practices and emotion regulation deficits have been shown to be associated with depression. Indeed, the authoritarian parenting style in particular, characterized by low warmth and high control, is predictive of depression severity, as well as emotion regulation difficulties, which in turn, predict depression in western samples (Eisenberg, Fabes, Shepard, Guthrie, Murphy, & Reiser, 1999; McKinney, Donnelly, & Renk, 2008; Tsai, Chang, Sanna, & Herringshaw, 2011; Berking, Ebert, Cuijpers & Hofmann, 2013; Berking, Wirtz, Syaldi, & Hormann. 2014; Joormann & Vanderlind, 2014). However, parenting norms and emotion regulation practices vary as a function of cultural values, which have largely been examined in western countries (Zaharan, 2011; Targum, Nakagawa, & Sato, 2013; Yang, Kuo, Wang, & Yang, 2014). Specifically, authoritarian parenting practices are the norm in cultures that embody values that hold the group's ideals and synchronization over that of the individual (collectivistic cultures), as compared to those like the US that value the individual over the group (individualistic cultures). Given such cultural differences, it is unclear to what degree the purported links between authoritarian parenting styles, emotion regulation difficulties, and depression hold in cross-cultural context. The present study aims to bridge this gap by exploring the links between US and Arab cultures.

1.1 Parenting Styles and Depression

There is now ample evidence to show that parenting behaviors during childhood influence the risk of later depression. Parenting styles are defined as "a constellation of attitudes toward the child that are communicated to the child and that, taken together, create an emotional climate in which the parent's behaviors are expressed" (Darling & Steinberg, 1993, p. 488). Parenting styles are one of the most frequently investigated parenting behaviors (Steinberg, 2001; Wood, McLeod, Sigman, Hwang, & Chu, 2003). Theorists have delineated three parenting styles that appear to hold across cultural lines: authoritarian, authoritative, and permissive styles (Baumrind, 1971).

The authoritarian parenting style involves the parent setting and enforcing the rules without negotiating with the child. Parents using this style tend to have strong control over their child's behavior and attitudes, and express less warmth towards their children when compared to the other two styles (Hart, Newell, & Olsen, 2003). A parent

who practices an authoritarian style expects obedience and expects respect from their children.

Conversely, the authoritative parenting style involves the parent directing their child's activity in a rational and issue-oriented manner. They negotiate with their children, and value their attributes through their individuality and conformity. While they uphold their position as a parent, they do no restrict children completely. They use reason and power to achieve their objectives, but do not conform to group harmony, although they acknowledge being part of the group. This parenting style can be adopted by either the father or mother, and tends to be the more preferred parenting style in western cultures (Baumrind, 1966, 1971; Maccoby & Martin, 1983: Lamborn, Mounts, Steinberg, & Dornbusch, 1991; Darling & Steinberg 1993).

The third, the permissive parenting style, involves parental consultation with their children about policy decisions and explains family rules to them. Parents using this style are more accepting, not punitive, and make few demands for the child in household matters. These parents attempt to grant their child's wish, and let the child regulate their own behavior and activities. They tend to avoid any conflict with their child, but try to use reason with their child. This style tends to contribute to poor behavioral outcomes in children, such as withdrawn behavior, low peer affiliation, and conduct disorders, and high internalizing behavior problems related to depression (Baumrind, 1989; Jewell & Stark, 2003; Wolfradt, Hempel, & Miles, 2003; Rubin, Hastings, Chen, Stewart, & McNichol, 1998).

While the authoritative parenting is consistently associated with positive

educational, social, emotional, and cognitive developmental outcomes in children in the US, the authoritarian parenting and permissive parenting are typically linked with poorer child outcomes, such as depression (Chao, 2001; Chan & Koo, 2010; Piko & Balázs, 2012; Uji, Sakamoto, & Adachi, 2014). For example, authoritative parenting was shown to be positively associated with adjustment in children of various ages (Baumrind, 1966, 1989; Maccoby & Martin, 1983; Hart et al., 2003). By contrast, the authoritarian parenting and permissive parenting are related to various kinds of maladjustment issues, such as withdrawn behavior, impulsiveness, and conduct disorders (Baumrind, 1989; Heller, Baker, Henker, & Hinshaw, 1996; Hart et al., 2003; Patock-Peckham & Morgan-Lopez, 2006). Furthermore, the authoritarian parenting style has been identified as a notable risk factor for depression (Garber, Robinson, & Valentiner, 1997; Yang et al., 2014). In particular, authoritarian parenting may be particularly risky for depressive symptoms due to the misalignment of cultural norms and parenting practice (Nguyen, 2008).

1.2 Mother's Parenting Styles

Of the two parents, mothers traditionally have greater involvement with children in the nuclear family when it comes to emotional stability of a child (Lamb, Pleck, Charnov, & Levine, 1987). This may be because mothers are overwhelmingly responsible for child-rearing activities (Pleck, 1997). Additionally, because mothers are perceived to be the more caring and encouraging of the two, children seek out encouragement and feelings of affection from their mothers (Frankel & Bates, 1990). However, mothers also establish guidelines to children at a young age (Gralinski & Kopp, 1993). Considering these factors, it is no surprise that mothers are more likely to

attempt to use authoritarian style when compared to fathers, as maternal parenting foundations in western cultures align with this parenting style (Simons, Lin, Gordon, Brody, Murry, & Conger, 2002). It is speculated that mothers' parenting plays an important role in young children's problem behaviors, but fathers' parenting may have only a marginal role (Aunola & Norumi, 2005). One explanation why children are more open to maternal influences is because mother and child interactions are characterized more than father and child interactions by warmth, responsiveness, and intimate exchanges (Darling & Steinberg, 1993; Forehand & Nousiainen, 1993). Mothers, compared to fathers, have also been shown to make a greater effort to maintain dependency in their children, that is to say, to maintain the child's dependency on the mother (Collins & Russel, 1991). This is very important in individualistic cultures, where independence and autonomy is strongly encouraged.

Although the authoritarian parenting style can be adapted by either the mother or the father, mothers are researched more so than fathers (Marsiglio, Amato, Day, & Lamb, 2000). While the authoritative parenting style mothering has been related to higher self-esteem and lower depression levels in their offspring, the permissive parenting style and the maternal authoritarian parenting style was associated with lower self-esteem and higher depression symptoms (Milevsky, Schlechter, Netter, & Keehn, 2007). Therefore, it can be suggested that parenting style does, indeed, have an effect on depressive symptoms, it may also have an effect on intrinsic emotions as well.

1.3 Parenting Styles and Emotion Regulation

Another important component in the relationship between parenting styles and depression risk is emotion regulation. Emotion regulation (ER) reflects both intrinsic and extrinsic processes responsible for monitoring, evaluating, and modifying reactions to accomplish one's own goals (Thompson, 1994). It is both an internal process, such as attention shifting, and an external process, such as through parents or social influence. The emotion regulation processes also modulate the emotional tone (specific emotion experienced) and emotional dynamics (intensity, duration, liability), and can be outside of a person's awareness (Thompson, 1990).

According to Morris, Silk, Steinberg, Myers, & Robinson (2007), emotion regulation is socialized through processes including parental practices and modeling, management of emotions within the family, and the emotional climate of the family. It is speculated that emotional regulation strategies can be affected by parenting styles, because of the various involvements with children, both from observational learning and physical involvement (Kopp, 1989). Families are able to influence the development and retention of emotion regulation by exhibiting emotional displays and interaction in front of their children (Kopp, 1989; Parke, 1994). In fact, research suggests that the context of a family plays a crucial role in children's development of emotion regulation skills (Morris et. al., 2007). Although there is speculation of how emotion is inherited, socialization by parents strongly influences how children learn to regulate their emotions (Stansbury & Zimmermann, 1999; Cole, Martin, & Dennis, 2004).

In a family environment, children are able to learn what is socially acceptable to display, or what is expected for them to feel in certain situations. Although most research focuses on negative emotion, children are able to learn both negative and positive emotions by observing parents for emotional cues exhibited by them (Power, 2004).

Additionally, how a parent regulates their own emotion may dictate what type of parenting style they practice. For example, parents who express positive emotions are more likely to be considered authoritative parents (warm yet firm) and parents who express negative emotions may be more authoritarian (cold and firm) in nature (Halberstadt, Crisp, & Eaton, 1999). Accordingly, adolescents in particular demonstrate that parental affection and other positive emotions (expressed) are related to low levels of externalized behavior and control over their emotion regulations (Contreras, Kerns, Weimer, Gentzler, & Tomich, 2000; Eisenberg et. al., 2005).

Parenting styles and children's emotional regulation capacities are clearly related with each other in many studies. While parental reaction to children's negative emotions has an effect on children's regulation of emotion, emotions like distress can influence internalizing emotions in children (Eisenberg et al., 1999). When parents display a wide range of both positive and negative emotions in specific situations, their children will be more apt to learn which emotions are suitable to display in such circumstances.

Conversely, when parents display high levels of anger or fear, children will most likely learn inappropriate ways to regulate and express their negative emotions (Denham, 1993). Such negative emotions that children observe can be reflected in children's academic and social problems (Fabes, Eisenberg, & Miller, 1990).

1.4 Process Model of Emotion Regulation

While there are many emotion regulations models in depression risk, Gross' (1998) Process Model has gained increasing attention over the past decade. According to Gross (1998), emotion may be regulated at five points in the emotion generative process: (1) during the selection of a situation; (2) modification of the situation; (3) deployment of attention; (4) cognitive change, and (5) the modulation of experiential, behavioral, or physiological responses. The first, selection of the situation, serves to regulate emotions by imagining a situation that is expected. By doing this, we will be able to give rise to emotions that are likely to occur during this situation. Despite 'preparing' via selection situation, one does not necessarily respond negatively, however. By using the second point and modifying the situation, we are able to directly alter our environment, thus impacting our emotional impact. Although it is possible to modify a situation an individual may be exposed to by changing the environment, the opposite is also true. By using the third point and redirecting attention to another stimuli, like when using distraction, internal focus is able to shift. While these situations can possibly elicit emotions, these emotions are not necessarily expressed. When we undergo the fourth point of cognitive change, for example, we change the way we think about a situation, or the ability to manage it. Reappraisal, a technique used to change a situation's meaning, is a particular cognitive change of importance at this point. Lastly, response modulation, expressed experientially, behaviorally, or physiologically, can be exhibited as a result of this process. A key component of this area, conversely, is the act of suppressing these elements in an attempt to hide one's true emotion.

The first four components of the process model are antecedent focused. That is, they modify the emotion before the individual experiences it. Conversely, the fifth process is response focused because it pertains to modifying the emotion after it reaches the individual's awareness. Much of the work in the literature has focused this latter process, given that antecedent-focused emotion regulation responses are difficult to measure as they are ephemeral and often times fall outside of the person's awareness. On the other hand, response focused strategies are more salient and therefore easier to quantify. These strategies (antecedent-focused and response-focused, respectively) are used to control emotional responses. Antecedent-focused strategies, made up of situation selection, situation modification, attention deployment, and cognitive change, tend to prepare for a response before a stimuli is fully activated, while response-focused strategies, comprised of only response modulation, activate an emotional response that is already prepped. When emotional cues are present, a brief evaluation goes over the stimuli. The emotional response tendencies (behavioral, experiential, and physiological) then respond to said stimuli. After modulation of these factors, an emotional response is formed.

1.5 Emotion Regulation and Depression

Unsuccessful emotion regulation it thought to contribute to the development of depression (Gross & Muñoz, 1995; Ehring et. al., 2008; Feng, Keenan, Hipwell, Hennerberger, Rischall, Butch, & Babinski, 2009, Berking et al., 2014; Folk, Zeman, Poon, & Dallaire, 2014). Deficits in emotion regulation can result in increased negative affect and in dysfunctional attempts to reduce such affect, and eventually lead to depressive symptoms (Teasdale & Barnard, 1993). Unsuccessful emotion regulation

includes factors such as suppression and ineffective cognitive reappraisal. Suppression, the conscious act of containing one's emotions and actions, causes increases in negative emotion, most likely due to elevated sympathetic arousal (Gross, 1998; Campbell-Sills, Barlow, Brown, & Hofmann, 2006). Originally, it was thought that suppression was an emotion regulation technique (Gross, 1998). However, higher frequency use of suppression on a day-to-day basis is associated with avoidant attachment, reduced sharing of emotions and reduced relationship intimacy (Gross, 2002; Gross & John, 2003; John & Gross, 2004). Moreover, maladaptive responses to dysphoric mood states, such as rumination or suppression, hinder the recovery of said dysphoric mood states in individuals who are vulnerable to depression (Morrow & Nolen-Hoeksema, 1990; Campbell-Sills et al., 2006; Liverant, Brown, Barlow, & Roemer 2008; Ehring, Tuschen-Caffier, Schnuelle, Fischer, & Gross, 2010). In turn, this may lead to negative feelings about the individual and cause them to isolate themselves from others, hinder the development of emotionally close relationships, and contribute further to interpersonal behavior that are already problematic (such as avoidance) (John & Gross, 2004). Additionally, the act of suppressing one's emotions has led to impaired memory of the situation, increased cardiovascular activation, and lower social support and feelings of closeness to others (Gross, 1998; Richards & Gross, 2000; Butler, Egloff, Wlhelm, Smith, Erickson, & Gross, 2003; John & Gross, 2004; Srivastava, Tamir, McGonigal, John, & Gross, 2009).

Reappraisal, an attempt to cognitively regulate emotion relatively early in the emotion-generative process, generates caring or positive interpretations and/or perspectives on a stressful situation and reduces distress (Gross, 1998). In addition,

reappraisal does not involve the same costs socially and cognitively that are used with suppression (Richards & Gross, 2000). Indeed, reappraisal has been studied expansively in nonclinical populations, and has been shown to reduce physiological activation to emotion-provoking stimuli, as well as reduced negative affects, such as depression (John & Gross, 2004; Urry, 2009; Ray, McRae, Ochsner, & Gross, 2010). In a meta-analysis, Aldao, Nolen- Hoeksema, & Schweizer (2010) reported that employment of greater reappraisal lowered depressive and anxiety symptoms. However, reappraisal was more incongruously related to symptoms than were other strategies, such as suppression. Moreover, Aldao & Nolen-Hoeksema (2012) found that the frequency of maladaptive strategies effect the degree of successful reappraisal. Thusly, it can be thought that reappraisal serves as a strategy to compensate for problems that come with greater maladaptive strategy use.

While reappraisal has been suggested to improve and help maintain acceptable health and well-being, expressive suppression has not (Gross & John, 2003). Certainly, reappraisal has also been demonstrated to be less cognitively demanding than suppression, and related to better physiological stress recovery (Richards & Gross, 2000; Egloff, Schmukle, Burns, & Schwerdtfeger, 2006; Mauss, Cook, & Gross, 2006; Jamieson et al., 2012). Suppression, however, has been suggested to increases levels of negative emotions (Martin & Teaser 1996; Ehrin, Fischer, Schnülle, Bösterling, & Tuschen-Caffier, 2008; Selby, Franklin, Carson-Wong, & Rizvi, 2013). In previously depressed individuals, suppression was used when experiencing negative emotions (Aker, Harmer, & Landrø 2014; Ehring, Tuschen-Caffier, Schnuelle, Fischer, & Gross, 2010).

depressive disorder (MDD) has been associated with less use of reappraisal (Joormann & Vanderlind 2014). Unsuccessful reappraisal, however, has been correlated to internalizing behaviors, such as stress or depression. Indeed, reappraisal, or learning to reappraise one's thoughts, is a key component to relieving depressive symptoms.

Interestingly, Ehring et al. (2010) stated that, when instructed to, formerly depressed participants were less likely to use reappraisal, but did not differ in the effectiveness of reappraisal when compared to the control group. This could mean that while reappraisal is helpful, those who have experienced depression in the past may still use ineffective strategies; depressed participants who were less likely to authenticate the use of reappraisal did not differ from the control group in their ability to use reappraisal effectively. It can also be said that enhanced emotion regulation skills can reduce symptoms of depression (Berking et al., 2013), whereas dissimilar emotion regulation strategies potentially increase the chance of depressive relapse (Joormann & Gotlib, 2010). Thusly, it can be speculated that reduced use of reappraisal may be observed only in people who are currently depressed (Ehring et al., 2010).

CHAPTER II

CULTURE

While the extant literature provides some context for the relationship between parenting style, emotion regulation, and depression risk, much of this work has been done in Western countries that hold individualistic values (Chao, 1994; Chun, Moos, & Cronkite, 2006; Henry, Stiles, Biran, & Hinkle, 2008). Therefore, the extent to which these relationships can be generalized to non-western, collectivistic cultures is unclear. The relationships among these variables is particularly important to elucidate for Arab Americans, who are a quickly growing minority in the US and are known to be at an elevated risk for depression (Abu-Ras & Abu-Bader, 2009). In the sections below, I explore the role of culture in the relationships among parenting style, emotion regulation, and depression.

2.1 Parenting Styles

Individualistic cultures, such as western societies, value autonomy. The counterpart to this is collectivistic cultures, such as Arab countries, that value group harmony. In western cultures, it is believed that autonomy is beneficial for the psychological growth and well-being of a mature person (Erikson, 1968). However, collectivistic cultures are thought to impede the development of autonomy, a process usually encouraged and supported in the family setting in the US (Suh & Oishi, 2002).

The values of autonomy versus dependence is often encompassed in not only culture, but parenting as well.

It is important to note that childrearing beliefs are constructed and interpreted through historical and cultural contexts (Harkness & Super, 1992). For example, parental control and affection appear throughout many cultures, but may have different functions, as well as different outcomes in a child's development within specific cultures (Bornstein, 2002). Though the authoritative, authoritarian, and permissive parenting styles can be found across cultures, these parenting styles are categorized within a Western perspective (Chao, 1994). Barnhart, Raval, Jansari, & Raval (2013) points out that previous literature has suggested the authoritative parenting is more common in Western cultures than Eastern cultures, in which authoritarian parenting is most common (Jambunathan & Counselman, 2002; Garg, Levin, Urajnik, & Kauppi, 2005). Additionally, Baumrind (1972) reported that the authoritarian parenting style produces fearful and timid behavior in Western children, but assertiveness in African-American children, especially girls. This may be due to different expectations and values placed on parent-child relationships, even within Western culture. This may also be due to cultural expectancies placed on the parent-child relationship, or that Baumrind's parenting styles are specific to Western culture, despite it being comprised of many races and backgrounds. In fact, Chao (1994) contests that the authoritarian parenting styles reflect Confucian parenting, and that parenting is more characterized by involvement, devotion, willingness, and control when it comes to child rearing and family matters. Indeed, as time goes on, parenting styles described by Baumrind are being reconstructed and examined, while others build off of this model to fit cultural context.

Baumrind (1996) emphasized that the concerns related to authoritarian parenting depend on the perception of the child, as well as cultural context. Perceptions of authoritarian parenting, for example, are accompanied by different values and expectancy in many cultural groups, such as a competent parent being a strict one. Some cultures that hold a different characterization of parenting styles compared to western culture include, but are not limited to, Korean, Chinese, African American, Hispanics, Indians, Turkish, and Japanese (Rohner & Pettengill, 1985; Chao, 2001; Jambunathan & Conselman, 2002; Querido, Warner, & Eyberg, 2002; Varela, Vernberg, Sanchez-Sosa, Riveros, Mitchell, & Mashunkashey, 2004; Cakir & Aydin, 2005; Choi, Kim, Kim, & Park, 2013; Watabe & Hibbard, 2014).

Compared to other collectivistic cultures, Arab culture has been researched less. While authoritarian parenting leads to depression, among other internalizing behaviors in Western countries, authoritarian parenting appears not to harm Arab children's mental health (Dwairy, 2004; Barton & Kirtley, 2012). In fact, it seems that authoritarian parenting does not predict poor mental health in Arab countries (Dwairy, 2004). Traditionally, in Arab societies, good parenting consists of strictness towards children (Dwairy, 1997). These cultural values of what a good parent consists of may negate any negative affect experienced by children, leading to this result. Conversely, there have been mixed reviews on the effects of authoritative parenting. While in some cultural contexts it is true that authoritarian parenting has competed with authoritative parenting for optimal outcomes (such as education or depressive symptoms), the opposite was also true. For example, in Steinberg and colleagues (1992) found that authoritative parenting was indeed linked to adolescents' achievement in school. However, this was not true for

African-American adolescents, and Hispanic adolescents, instead, had higher achievements in school when exposed to authoritarian parenting. Likewise, Dwairy, Achoui, Abouserie, & Farah (2006) found that while authoritarian parenting style was harmful to adolescents' mental health in depressive contexts, no such harm was found in Arab samples.

Furthermore, the role of the mother seems to be the more impactful of the two parents in Arab societies (Dwairy 1997; Fronk, Huntington, & Chadwick, 1999). This may be because culture is established differently than gender, such as through relatedness and cohesiveness (Kashima, Yamaguchi, Kim, Choi, Gelfand, & Yuki, 1995). While westerners frown at the idea of conformity, for example, other cultures may value and nurture this trait (Hui & Trandis, 1986). Thus, deleterious effects of the authoritarian parenting style may not hold for those of Arab backgrounds.

2.2 Emotion Regulation

Researchers over the years have speculated that sociocultural factors have an influence on depressive disorders (Möller-Leimkühler, 2002; Green, Broome, & Mirabell, 2006). As individuals age in the course of their lifetime, they are able to find what emotions are acceptable in their environment (Thompson, 1994). In different cultures, however, emotions are often handled differently. This can be thought to be done to maintain social order. By creating boundaries in regards to emotion regulation in accordance to their values, cultures can distinguish themselves, such as through autonomy (Oyserman, Coon, & Kemmelmeier, 2002). Although many researches are delving into this dimension and its effect on emotion regulation, little is known of the

intricacies of emotion regulation among Arabs. While little to no research has looked into emotion regulations of Arabs, we can see that other collectivistic cultures differ in regulation strategies when compared to individualistic cultures (Gross & John, 2003). For example, in collectivistic cultures, such as Japan, individuals have a tendency to suppress their emotions more than individualistic countries, such as the U.S.A. (Saito, Stephan, Stephan, & Morrison, 1996). Together, by reassessing the type of provoking events and by regulating expressive behavior, the ability to regulate emotion is learned within a developmental context, such as through family (Miller, McDonough, Rosenblum, & Sameroff, 2002; Volling, McElwain, & Miller, 2002). Individualistic cultures, for instance, are expected to use more reappraisal and less suppression, since individualistic cultures value autonomy. Cultures that are more collectivistic, however, are expected to use less reappraisal and more suppression, since collectivistic cultures value what emotions are expressed and require individual suppression for the conservation of consistency and harmony among groups (Matsumoto et al., 2008).

An important limitation to many of the studies that come from western civilization is that they do not take into account cultural norms or values (Butler & Gross, 2004). One study directly assessed this issue, and found that higher levels of regular use of suppression were used among minorities in the US (Gross & John, 2003). Indeed, cultural differences can be seen in how emotion regulation is handled among individuals, such as in display rules and suppression (Matsumoto, 1990; Thompson, 1994; Butler, Lee, & Gross, 2007; Keller & Otto, 2009). It can be thought that suppression may have positive consequences on the social level, by playing a major cultural function in maintaining a culture's construct. Thusly, suppression may play a large part in keeping

group harmony (at least, by observable behaviors), a trait of collectivistic cultures, demonstrated cultural differences in expression, and display rules (Matsumoto, 1990; Matsumoto, Takeuchi, Andayani, Kouznetsova, & Krupp, 1998; Matsumoto & Kupperbusch, 2001). Additionally, Butler et al. (2003) found that suppression limits new relationships, as well as supportive relationships and is characterized by less social support.

While suppression has been associated with less social closeness and support, reappraisal has been associated with greater sharing of emotions, closer relationships, and greater support socially (John & Gross, 2004). Primarily, reappraisal has been related with positive outcomes, while suppression has been related with negative outcomes (John & Gross, 2004). Additionally, while reappraisal is negatively associated with depressive symptoms across cultures, there has been a protective effect found in those from a collectivistic culture (Kwon, Yoon, Joormann, & Kwon, 2013). Cultures, such as those that value autonomy, should be associated with more reappraisal and less suppression because these cultures value emotions more and encourage their freer and open expression. However, cultures that value group harmony should be associated with more suppression than reappraisal, to maintain the harmony. In one study with Japanese and Americans, Americans reported more frequent use of reappraisal than Japanese, whereas the Japanese reported more frequent use of expressive suppression than Americans (Matsumoto, 2006). Additionally, while there were no ethnic differences in the use of reappraisal, Americans showed the least use of suppression as an emotion regulation strategy (Gross & John, 2003). However, cultural differences in the frequency of use of reappraisal have yielded mixed findings (Gross & John, 2003; Matsumoto, 2006).

Because of these factors, it is import to explore reappraisal strategies and suppression among collectivistic culture, especially those of Arabic background.

CHAPTER III

THIS STUDY

The present study aimed to explore the relationship between parenting styles, emotion regulation, and depression and how Arab culture affects these relationships.

Because mental health is associated with genetic and environmental factors (Cadoret, O'Gorman, Heywood, & Troughton, 1985; Kendler, Heath, Martin, & Eaves, 1986; Sullivan, Neale, & Kendler, 2000), culture and parenting styles are important markers for depression. Although we can attribute parenting styles and emotion regulation to depression in western cultures, we don't know how these hold true across cultures. While there are researches out there that explore parenting styles on Arab children, this field needs to continue to be built upon, especially in regards to emotion regulation among Arabs. This is a field that needs to be explored to determine important factors of depression, and treatment of it. In this study, the role of parenting styles and emotion regulations are explored in relation to depression, along with the role that culture has on these relationships. The literature in this study attempted to demonstrate and further explore these relationships. We hypothesized that:

Hypothesis 1. Maternal authoritarian parenting style will predict elevated depressive symptoms via the increased use of suppression and reduced use of reappraisal

emotion regulation responses.

Hypothesis 2. The relationship between parenting style, emotion regulation, and depression will be moderated by participants' cultural background.

CHAPTER IV

METHODS

4.1 Participants

Participants included 26 Arab Americans and 57 Westerners. Arab participants were recruited by contacting various Arab-affiliated organizations throughout the greater Cleveland area, and both Arab and Western participants were recruited from the Cleveland State University undergraduate research participant pool. Participants consisted of young adults from age 17 to 61, with 63% being female. Some participants were eliminated from the current study due to missing or incomplete data.

4.2 Measures

Demographic Questionnaire measures participants' age, sex, racial and ethnic background, country of origin, generations in the US, and years that participants have resided in the US if they were born abroad.

Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale (CES-D) (Radloff, 1977) is a 20 item self-report instrument that measures the frequency of depressive symptoms, using a 0 to 3 scale with 0 being rarely or none of the times, less than one day, and 3 beings all of the time, 5-7 days. This survey has shown to have good reliability and validity, even

across diverse groups (Radloff, 1977; Husaini, Neff, Harrington, Hughes, & Stone, 1980; Fava, 1983).

Emotion Regulation Questionnaire (ERQ) (Gross & John, 2003) measures individual's regulation of emotion via cognitive reappraisal and expressive suppression. It is a 10 item self-report questionnaire that uses a 1 to 7 scale with 1 being strongly disagree, 4 being natural, and 7 being strongly agree. Many of the items in this assessment start with "When I am feeling" or "When I want to feel", implying that the individual will need to assess their emotions and their thinking processes. This questionnaire has shown to have good validity and reliability across cultures (Gross & John, 2003) Fernandez-Berroca, Extremera, & Ramos, 2004; Balzarotti, John, & Gross, 2010).

Parental Authority Questionnaire (PAQ) (Buri, 1991) measures authoritarian, authoritative, and permissive paternal and maternal parenting styles in a total of 60 items (30 items for each parent). It is a self-report measure, with participants rating on a scale of 1 to 5, 1being strongly disagree, and 5 being strongly agree. This test has been shown to have acceptable validity and reliability (Buri, 1991; Ferrari & Olivette, 1994), but should be proceeded with caution among cultural samples, as generations in the US, acculturation, and other factors (later explained) may affect these measurements (Dwairy et al., 2006: Raval, Ward, Raval, & Trivedi, 2012).

4.3 Procedures

Arab participants were first contacted through email. Participants completed a digital informed consent form prior to completing study surveys online. If participants

met qualification, they were then sent a link to the study to fill out an hour long questionnaire, which consisted of the measures mentioned before. Additionally, participants were then asked to fill out five short surveys daily in a period of a week.

After survey completion, participants were presented with a debriefing form that provides further information on the study. Western participants who took part of the study through SOMA filled out the questionnaires online for credit in their psychology courses.

Statistical analyses were ran by using SPSS Version 22, PROCESS Macro, and Microsoft Excel, 2013, respectively. Out of the 101 participants that took the survey, 18 participants were excluded due to lack of completion of questionnaires deletion.

Statistical analyses were carried out using list-wise deletion due to missing data.

4.4 Analyses

Descriptive statistics were ran to describe the sample on demographics characteristics and associations among study variables. Mediation analyses in accordance to Baron and Kenny (1986) were used to examine mediation effect of emotion regulation between parenting styles and depression.

To examine the moderation effect of culture, moderation analyses were conducted by using PROCESS models 8 and 15. Model 8 tested the moderating effect of culture on the relation between parenting style and emotion regulation, and parenting styles and depression. Model 15 tested the moderating effects of culture on the relation between emotion regulation and depression, as well as between parenting style and depression.

4.5 Power

Power analyses for mediation effects were conducted using the PowerMediation

package in R Software. Gpower was used to calculate the power for moderation effects. Power was set to a value of .80, alpha to a value of .05, and based on the extant literature, the effect of the mediators, suppression and reappraisal, were set to beta = .50 and .21, respectively (Aldao et al., 2010). Based on these parameters, an estimated sample size of 94 participants was required to detect the proposed relationships with sufficient statistical power. While there is no literature to base the effect of culture on the aforementioned relationships, this study was sufficiently powered to detect a moderate effect size ($R^2 = .07$) with a sample of 94 participants. However, due to logistical issues, the statistical power was not met due to culture N=81.

CHAPTER V

RESULTS

5.1 General Descriptive Analyses

Descriptive analyses were conducted in terms of differences between studies variables in both Western and Arab samples presented in Table 1.

Bivariate correlations between study across the two cultural groups were presented in Table 2. For the Western sample, permissive parenting was significantly correlated with age, r(57)=-.34, p=.01. Permissive parenting style also had a significant correlation with suppression, r(57)=.29, p=.03. Furthermore, depression had a significant correlation with suppression, r(57)=.30, p=03. Additionally, trend level effects were found in regards to age and reappraisal r(57)=.23, p=.09 (Table 2). However, neither authoritarian nor authoritative parenting style had a significant correlation with any aspects of the model variables in the correlation analyses in the western sample

For Arab samples, suppression had a significant correlation with both sex, r(26)=-.44, p=.03, and permissive parenting style, r(26)=-.49, p=.01. Likewise, depression had a significant correlation with age, r(26)=.52, p=.006, and the authoritarian parenting style, r=.42, p=.03. Depression also had a significant correlation with

reappraisal, r(26)=-.51, p=.004. Lastly, reappraisal had trend level association with both permissive parenting, r(26)=.33, p=.10, and depression and authoritative parenting style, r(26)=-.33, p=.10, as well as depression and reappraisal, r(26)=-.48, p=.01. (Table 2).

Hypothesis 1: Maternal authoritarian parenting style will predict elevated depressive symptoms via the increased use of suppression and reduced use of reappraisal emotion regulation responses.

To evaluate this hypothesis, mediation analyses were conducted to examine whether emotional suppression and cognitive reappraisal mediated the effects of parenting styles on depression symptoms. Following Baron and Kenny (1986), the first model examined the effects of the permissive, authoritarian, and authoritative parenting styles on depression symptoms. The effects of age and sex were covaried from these models (see Table 3). The results showed that permissive and authoritarian parenting significantly predicted elevated depression symptoms, $\beta = .44$, t(76) = 3.41, $R^2 = .25$, p=.001, $\beta = .45$, t(76) = 3.85, $R^2 = .25$, p=.000. Additionally, sex and authoritative parenting predicted lower depression symptoms at trend level $\beta = -.17$, t(76) = -1.69, $R^2 = .25$, p=.09, $\beta = -.20$, t(76) = 01.70, $R^2 = .25$, p=.09.

The second step in the mediation analyses examined the association between parenting styles and the two emotion regulation constructs. Findings showed that only permissive parenting and sex predicted higher use of suppression significantly, $\beta = .55$, t(76) = 4.33, $R^2 = .27$, p = .000, $\beta = .26$, t(76) = 2.59, $R^2 = .27$, p = .01 (Table 4).

Furthermore, authoritative parenting style had a trend level effect with suppression, as did coming from an Arab background on suppression, $\beta = -.22$, t(76) = -1.93, $R^2 = .27$, p = .06, $\beta = .20$, t(76) = 1.86, $R^2 = .27$, p = .06. Parenting style was unrelated to the use of cognitive reappraisal (Table 5).

As the final step, the effects of emotional suppression and cognitive reappraisal on depression were added to the model described in the first step of these analyses. In this model, sex, permissive parenting, and authoritarian styles continued to predict depression, but to a reduced degree (Table 6). While reappraisal predicted lower levels of depression, $\beta = -.27$, t(74) = -2.80, $R^2 = .33$, p = .007, emotional suppression did not predict depression symptoms. Additionally, authoritative parenting was found to no longer predict depression. Lastly, sex had a trend level effect with depression, $\beta = .19$, t(74) = -1.69, $R^2 = .33$, p = .10. Therefore, these results suggest that neither emotional suppression, nor cognitive reappraisal mediate the effects of parenting styles in the full sample. However, as the hypothesized relationships between parenting styles, emotion regulation, and depression symptoms are expected to vary across those of Arab and Western backgrounds, a series of moderated mediation and mediated moderation models were conducted to examine the study hypotheses.

Hypothesis 2: The relationship between parenting style, emotion regulation, and depression will be moderated by participants' cultural background.

To evaluate this hypothesis, moderation effects were added to the previous mediation analyses. The first model examined the moderation of culture on the effects of

the permissive, authoritarian, and authoritative parenting styles on depression. The second model examined the moderation of culture on the effects of the permissive, authoritarian, and authoritative parenting styles on the two emotion regulation constructs. The third model examined the moderation of culture on the effects of all parenting styles, along with emotion regulation strategies on depressive symptoms. Moderation analyses failed to show significance; the effect of cultural background was not present in the mediation analyses.

5.2 Discussion

This study examined the role of culture in the relationship between parenting style, emotion regulation, and depression symptoms. The extant literature shows adverse effects of the authoritarian parenting style on depression risk and emotion regulation deficits in US samples. This study aimed to test whether similar relationships held in a sample of Arab Americans (Eisenberg et al., 1999; McKinney, Donnelly, & Renk, 2008; Tsai, Chang, Sanna, & Herringshaw, 2011; Berking et al., 2013; Berkinget al., 2014; Joormann & Vanderlind, 2014). Specifically, the study tested whether Arab American and their western peers differed in the mediation of emotion regulation deficits (characterized by low reappraisal and high suppression levels) between maternal parenting styles and depression symptoms. Findings on the general association between maternal parenting styles, emotion regulation, and depression symptoms, and the effects of cultural backgrounds are discussed below.

5.2.1 Parenting Style and Depression

The first aim of this study was to examine the role of maternal authoritarian

parenting style in the prediction of depressive symptoms via the increased use of suppression, and the reduced use of reappraisal. In partial support of the hypothesis, the use of the authoritarian parenting style, along with permissive parenting, significantly predicted depression symptoms. These findings align with prior work linking both permissive and authoritarian parenting styles to unfavorable outcomes, such as depression (Baumrind, 1989; Heller et al., 1996; Hart et al., 2003; Patock-Peckham & Morgan-Lopez, 2006).

Additionally, the results of this study showed that authoritative parenting style was not related to depressive symptoms. While a large body of literature suggests a negative correlation with authoritative parenting style and depression (Baumrind, 1966, 1989; Maccoby & Martin, 1983; Hart et al., 2003), there is increasing evidence that the salubrious effects of authoritative parenting varies as a function of the parenting style of the other parent, as well as the gender of the parent. For example, Fletcher and colleagues (1999) found that authoritative parenting predicted greater depression and anxiety symptoms in children when this parenting style was practiced only by one parent. Indeed, the adverse effects of such mismatched parenting styles were more deleterious than the effects of both parents having an authoritarian or permissive styles. In a similar vein, other studies have shown that while paternal authoritarian style protects their offspring from adverse emotional experiences (e.g., feelings of parental rejection) and depression symptoms, and that maternal authoritarian parenting had no protective effects and lead to increased depressive symptoms (Patock-Peckham & Morgan Lopez, 2007). Because this study only examined maternal parenting styles, it is feasible that the trend findings reflect the effects of a mixture of the other parent's parenting styles. This may help explain why

authoritative maternal parenting style was not significantly related to depression in this study.

5.2.2 Parenting Styles and Emotion Regulation

Along with expectation, authoritative parenting predicted the lesser use of suppression at trend level, while permissive parenting predicted the use of emotional suppression significantly. The protective effect that authoritative parenting had on suppression is consistent with current literature (Grolnick & Farkas, 2002). However, the effects of permissive parenting style in this study are consistent with a small, but growing literature that link permissive parenting and the use of suppression. For instance, Hardy and colleagues (1993) found that children of parents who employ permissive parenting tend to use emotional suppression at greater rates than children whose parents use other parenting styles. Given the nondirective nature of permissive parenting, it is feasible that youth without guidance may gravitate towards the use of maladaptive emotion regulation strategies (Misra & Shukla, 2010) that often require fewer resources to implement than their adaptive counterparts. While it is understood that parenting plays an important role in fostering emotion regulation repertoires in children (Eisenberg et al., 1999), no studies to date have examined the effects of either parenting styles on the use of emotional suppression. The same can be said for the null effects of parenting style on reappraisal. Therefore, the null findings between parenting styles and emotion regulation should be seen as tentative, and explored in future studies.

5.2.3 Emotion Regulation and Depression

The results also suggest that cognitive reappraisal predicted lower level of depression symptoms. This finding is consistent with the extant literature that links reappraisal to lower levels of internalizing disorders (i.e., depression and anxiety) across student, community, and clinical populations (Aldao et al., 2010; John & Gross, 2004; Urry, 2009; Ray et al., 2010). Contrary to expectation, emotional suppression was unrelated to depression symptoms in the full sample. However, as emotional suppression reflects the mores of emotional display that vary across cultures, these null findings may reflect distinct associations between suppression and depression across the two cultural groups that cancel one another out in the full sample. Indeed, follow-up analyses of these association revealed distinct patterns between Arab Americans and their western peers. Specifically, suppression evidenced a trend-level positive correlation with depression among westerners, and no association among Arabs.

5.3 Cultural Difference in Study Variables

The second aim of this study was to examine the relationship between parenting style, emotion regulation, and depression. Specifically, the effects of having an Arab versus western cultural background was examined as a moderator of the previously discussed associations between parenting style, emotion regulation, and depression. Regression analyses revealed that hailing from an Arabic background predicted greater use of suppression, and this held true throughout hierarchal regression analyses. Indeed, many researchers have suggested that being from a collectivistic background means an

increased use of suppression (Matsumoto et al., 2008; Butler et al., 2007; Soto, Perez, Kim, Lee, & Minnick, 2011). Likewise, in hierarchal regression, reappraisal was not predicted as a function of culture. While this goes in line with prior research, culture did not moderate the relationships between study variables.

The null effects of culture on the associations between parenting, emotion regulation, and depression may be understood in several ways. First, it is likely that the low number of Arab participants (n=30) failed to provide sufficient statistical power to detect significant moderation effects. Second, these findings may be consistent with a mixed literature on cultural differences on the effects of this study's variables of interest on depression symptoms. For example, there are mixed findings as to whether authoritarian or authoritative parenting is the "norm" in collectivistic cultures, such as the Arab culture (Lamborn et al. 1991; Steinberg et al., 1992; Darling & Steinberg, 1993; Leung, Lau, & Lam, 1998; Dwairy, 2004; Dwairy, Achoui, Abouserie, & Farah, 2006; García & Gracia, 2009 Barton & Kirtley, 2012). In a similar vein, while some have noted differences in the use and outcomes of such emotion regulation responses as suppression and reappraisal across cultural backgrounds (e.g., Gross & John, 2003; Su, Lee, & Oishi, 2012; Tweed, White, & Lehman, 2004) others have failed to note such differences (Matsumoto et al., 2008).

Third, these findings may suggest that individual level personality dimensions are more important than the mores of a given culture. For example, some literature now shows that individual construals, or the personality dimensions of collectivism (i.e., interdependence) and individualism (i.e., independence), are better predictors of

individuals' values and behaviors than the predominant values of their parent culture (Markus & Kitayama, 1991; Cheung & Park, 2010). Thus, it is feasible that models testing the moderating effects of culture combined individuals who are distinct on important underlying dimensions (e.g., interdependence) in a single cultural category (e.g., Arab).

Finally, given that "westernization" has spreading across countries that traditionally held "eastern" values (e.g., China, Taiwan, and South Korea) (Chang, Schwartz, Dodge, & McBride-Chang, 2003; Lee, Bekert, & Goodrich, 2009; Cho, Mallinckrodt, & Yune, 2010), it is feasible that the null moderation effects found in this study reflect a shift in values at the cultural (i.e., westernization) or individual levels (i.e., acculturation). As acculturation was not considered in this study, future studies should explore controlling for acculturation which would shed light on the relationships examined in the cross-cultural analyses. As seen in Table 2, for example, reappraisal was correlated with permissive parenting in Arab sample. This may be due to a mixture of perceptions from those of a collectivistic culture labeling what is truly authoritarian parenting in western culture as permissive in theirs (Barnhart et al., 2013). Likewise, as mentioned before, a mixture of two parentings styles certainly could have played a role into labeling their mother as permissive overall.

5.4 Limitations

The results of this study should be viewed in the context of several limitations. As previously mentioned, the study had a relatively small sample of Arab/Arab-American participants, which may have reduced the statistical power necessary to detect true

cultural differences in the relationships between parenting styles, emotion regulation, and depression symptoms.

Another limitation of this study is its sole use of self-report measures that were completed anonymously online. Although this approach opened the door for participants to respond in earnest, there is a growing concern that anonymous, online data gathering with undergraduate students reduces the validity of the gathered data (Wright, 2005). Thusly, it may be beneficial to have face-to-face samples in future studies, as doing so may reduce the problems associated with online data collection.

Furthermore, because the PAQ measured participants' recollection of their parents' behaviors, it is feasible that these recollections are affected and do not accurately capture parents' true parenting styles. So while a parent may have considered themselves an authoritative parent, per say, participants in this study may have remembered them as being more so permissive. Also, while the PAQ is a traditional means of measuring parenting styles, a growing literature suggests that measuring dimensions that underlie parenting styles (e.g., warmth & control) may prove a more robust approach in examining the role of parenting and emotional difficulties (Dwairy, 2006).

Finally, this study used cultural background as a proxy for cultural values that may impact the relationship between study variables. Thus, the role of individual differences in the degree to which such cultural values are internalized was not considered. Furthermore, this study did not take into account dimensions of culture, such as power distance and tolerance for ambiguity. Such dimensions may have more meaningful correlations and significance with the studies variable in this study, as

opposed to the 'umbrella' term for individualistic vs. collectivistic culture.

In summary, future studies that: (1) include larger samples of individuals from the target cultural groups, (2) use multiple methods of data collection, (3) measure key dimensions that underlie parenting styles, and (4) consider individual differences in cultural values and acculturation would do much to improve our understanding on the role of culture in parenting, emotion regulation, and depression risk.

5.5 Future Direction

There are several directions that similar research can take. Since the construction of the PAQ, new parental questionnaire that measure other dimensions, such as warmth and control, have been developed. Such dimensional measures would augment the information gained from more traditional approaches to measuring parenting style. A similar approach may be taken with emotion regulation measures. That is, a growing body of work suggests that further dissecting such emotion regulation constructs as reappraisal into detached and positive reappraisal provides incremental information that traditional measures of the construct.

Moreover, future research should continue to look into the Arab culture. While other collectivistic samples have been studied in depth (i.e. Japan, China, etc.), those of an Arabic background have not. This may be due to the tendency for those of Arabic backgrounds to be more reticent than other cultural groups to engage in psychological research. Never the less, as those of Arabic backgrounds become an increasing staple of the American fabric, more information on this cultural group would do much to improve our outreach, prevention and intervention efforts. Future cross-cultural research should

also take into account acculturation, as well as individual-level cultural values when examining the relationship between parenting, emotion regulation, and depression in the Arab culture.

REFERENCES

- Abu-Ras, W., & Abu-Bader, S. H. (2009). Risk factors for depression and posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD): The Case of Arab and Muslim Americans Post-9/11. *Journal Of Immigrant & Refugee Studies*, 7(4), 393-418. doi:10.1080/15562940903379068
- Aker, M., Harmer, C., & Landrø, N. I. (2014). More rumination and less effective emotion regulation in previously depressed women with preserved executive functions. *BMC Psychiatry*, 14
- Akira, H. (2015). Psychiatry and religion in modern Japan: Traditional temple and shrine therapies. In C. Harding, I. Fumiaki, Y. Shin'ichi, C. Harding, I. Fumiaki, Y. Shin'ichi (Eds.), *Religion and psychotherapy in modern Japan* (pp. 51-75). New York, NY, US: Routledge/Taylor & Francis Group.
- Aldao, A., Nolen-Hoeksema, S., & Schweizer, S. (2010). Emotion-regulation strategies across psychopathology: A meta-analytic review. *Clinical Psychology Review*, *30*(2), 217-237. doi:10.1016/j.cpr.2009.11.004
 - Aldao, A., & Nolen-Hoeksema, S. (2012). When are adaptive strategies most predictive of psychopathology? *Journal Of Abnormal Psychology*, *121*(1), 276-281. doi:10.1037/a0023598
- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (5th ed.). Washington, DC: Author.

- Aunola, K., & Nurmi, J. (2005). The role of parenting styles in children's problem behavior. *Child Development*, 76(6), 1144-1159.
- Balzarotti, S., John, O. P., & Gross, J. J. (2010). An Italian adaptation of the Emotion
 Regulation Questionnaire. European Journal Of Psychological Assessment, 26(1),
 61-67. doi:10.1027/1015-5759/a000009
- Barnhart, C. M., Raval, V. V., Jansari, A., & Raval, P. H. (2013). Perceptions of parenting style among college students in India and the United States. *Journal Of Child And Family Studies*, 22(5), 684-693. doi:10.1007/s10826-012-9621-1
- Baron, R. M., & Kenny, D. A. (1986). The moderator–mediator variable distinction in social psychological research: Conceptual, strategic, and statistical considerations. *Journal Of Personality And Social Psychology*, 51(6), 1173-1182. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.51.6.1173
- Barton, A. L., & Kirtley, M. S. (2012). Gender differences in the relationships among parenting styles and college student mental health. *Journal Of American College Health*, 60(1), 21-26. doi:10.1080/07448481.2011.555933
- Baumrind, D. (1966). Effects of authoritative parental control on child behavior. *Child Development*, *37*(4), 887-907. doi:10.2307/1126611
- Baumrind, D. (1971). Current patterns of parental authority. *Developmental Psychology*, 4(1, Pt.2), 1-103. doi:10.1037/h0030372

- Baumrind, D. (1972). An exploratory study of socialization effects on black children: Some black-white comparisons. *Child Development*, *43*(1), 261-267. doi:10.2307/1127891
- Baumrind, D. (1989). Rearing competent children. In W. Damon, W. Damon (Eds.), *Child development today and tomorrow* (pp. 349-378). San Francisco, CA, US: Jossey-Bass.
- Baumrind, D. (1996). The discipline controversy revisited. *Family Relations: An Interdisciplinary Journal Of Applied Family Studies*, 45(4), 405-414. doi:10.2307/585170
- Berking, M., Ebert, D., Cuijpers, P., & Hofmann, S. G. (2013). Emotion regulation skills training enhances the efficacy of inpatient cognitive behavioral therapy for major depressive disorder: A randomized controlled trial. *Psychotherapy And Psychosomatics*, 82(4), 234-245. doi:10.1159/000348448
- Berking, M., Wirtz, C. M., Svaldi, J., & Hofmann, S. G. (2014). Emotion regulation predicts symptoms of depression over five years. *Behaviour Research And Therapy*, 5713-20. doi:10.1016/j.brat.2014.03.003
- Beyers, W., & Goossens, L. (2003). Psychological separation and adjustment to university:

 Moderating effects of gender, age, and perceived parenting style. *Journal Of Adolescent Research*, 18(4), 363-382. doi:10.1177/0743558403018004003

- Bornstein, M. H. (2002). Parenting infants. In M. H. Bornstein, M. H. Bornstein (Eds.), *Handbook of parenting: Vol. 1: Children and parenting (2nd ed.)* (pp. 3-43). Mahwah, NJ, US: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Publishers.
- Buri, J. R. (1991). Parental Authority Questionnaire. *Journal Of Personality Assessment*, 57(1), 110-119. doi:10.1207/s15327752jpa5701 13
- Butler, E. A., Egloff, B., Wlhelm, F. H., Smith, N. C., Erickson, E. A., & Gross, J. J. (2003). The social consequences of expressive suppression. *Emotion*, *3*(1), 48-67. doi:10.1037/1528-3542.3.1.48
- Butler, E. A., & Gross, J. J. (2004). Hiding feelings in social contexts: Out of sight is not out of mind. In P. Philippot, R. S. Feldman, P. Philippot, R. S. Feldman (Eds.), *The regulation of emotion* (pp. 101-126). Mahwah, NJ, US: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Publishers.
- Butler, E. A., Lee, T. L., & Gross, J. J. (2007). Emotion regulation and culture: Are the social consequences of emotion suppression culture-specific?. *Emotion*, 7(1), 30-48. doi:10.1037/1528-3542.7.1.30
- Cadoret, R. J., O'Gorman, T. W., Heywood, E., & Troughton, E. (1985). Genetic and environmental factors in major depression. *Journal Of Affective Disorders*, 9(2), 155-164. doi:10.1016/0165-0327(85)90095-3
- Cakir, S. G., & Aydin, G. (2006). Parental attitudes and ego identity status of Turkish adolescents. *Family Therapy*, *33*(3), 157-169.

- Campbell-Sills, L., Barlow, D. H., Brown, T. A., & Hofmann, S. G. (2006). Acceptability and suppression of negative emotion in anxiety and mood disorders. *Emotion*, *6*(4), 587-595. doi:10.1037/1528-3542.6.4.587
- Chan, T. W., & Koo, A. (2010). Parenting style and youth outcomes in the UK. *European Sociological Review*, jcq013. doi: 10.1093/esr/jcq013
- Chao, R. K. (1994). Beyond parental control and authoritarian parenting style:

 Understanding Chinese parenting through the cultural notion of training. *Child Development*, 65(4), 1111-1119. doi:10.2307/1131308
- Chao, R. K. (2000). The parenting of immigrant Chinese and European American mothers:

 Relations between parenting styles, socialization goals, and parental practices. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 21(2), 233-248.
- Chao, R. K. (2001). Extending research on the consequences of parenting style for Chinese Americans and European Americans. *Child Development*, 72(6), 1832-1843. doi:10.1111/1467-8624.00381
- Chang, L., Schwartz, D., Dodge, K. A., & McBride-Chang, C. (2003). Harsh Parenting in Relation to Child Emotion Regulation and Aggression. *Journal Of Family Psychology*, *17*(4), 598-606. doi:10.1037/0893-3200.17.4.598
- Cheung, R. M., & Park, I. K. (2010). Anger suppression, interdependent self-construal, and depression among Asian American and European American college students.

- Cultural Diversity And Ethnic Minority Psychology, 16(4), 517-525. doi:10.1037/a0020655
- Cho, Y., Mallinckrodt, B., & Yune, S. (2010). Collectivism and individualism as bicultural values: South Korean undergraduates' adjustment to college. *Asian Journal Of Counselling*, 17(1-2), 81-104.
- Choi, Y., Kim, Y. S., Kim, S. Y., & Park, I. K. (2013). Is Asian American parenting controlling and harsh? Empirical testing of relationships between Korean American and Western parenting measures. *Asian American Journal Of Psychology*, *4*(1), 19-29. doi:10.1037/a0031220
- Chun, C., Moos, R. H., & Cronkite, R. C. (2006). Culture: A fundamental context for the stress and coping paradigm. In P. P. Wong, L. J. Wong, P. P. Wong, L. J. Wong (Eds.), *Handbook of multicultural perspectives on stress and coping* (pp. 29-53). Dallas, TX, US: Spring Publications. doi:10.1007/0-387-26238-5
- Cole, P. M., Martin, S. E., & Dennis, T. A. (2004). Emotion Regulation as a Scientific Construct: Methodological Challenges and Directions for Child Development Research. *Child Development*, 75(2), 317-333. doi:10.1111/j.1467-8624.2004.00673.x
- Collins, W. A., & Russell, G. (1991). Mother-child and father-child relationships in middle childhood and adolescence: A developmental analysis. *Developmental Review*, 11(2), 99-136. doi:10.1016/0273-2297(91)90004-8

- Contreras, J. M., Kerns, K. A., Weimer, B. L., Gentzler, A. L., & Tomich, P. L. (2000).

 Emotion regulation as a mediator of associations between mother–child attachment and peer relationships in middle childhood. *Journal Of Family Psychology*, *14*(1), 111-124. doi:10.1037/0893-3200.14.1.111
- Darling, N., & Steinberg, L. (1993). Parenting style as context: An integrative model. *Psychological Bulletin*, 113(3), 487-496. doi:10.1037/0033-2909.113.3.487
- Denham, S. A. (1993). Maternal emotional responsiveness and toddlers' social-emotional competence. *Child Psychology & Psychiatry & Allied Disciplines*, *34*(5), 715-728. doi:10.1111/j.1469-7610.1993.tb01066.
- Dwairy, M. (1997). A biopsychosocial model of metaphor therapy with holistic cultures. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 17(7), 719-732. doi:10.1016/S0272-7358(97)00027-5
- Dwairy, M. (2004). Parenting Styles and Mental Health of Palestinian-Arab Adolescents in Israel. *Transcultural Psychiatry*, 41(2), 233-252. doi:10.1177/1363461504043566
- Dwairy, M., Achoui, M., Abouserie, R., Farah, A., Sakhleh, A. A., Fayad, M., & Khan, H. K. (2006). Parenting Styles in Arab Societies: A First Cross-Regional Research Study. *Journal Of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, *37*(3), 230-247. doi:10.1177/0022022106286922
- Dwairy, M. (2006). Counseling and psychotherapy with Arabs and Muslims: A culturally sensitive approach. New York, NY, US: Teachers College Press.

- Dwairy, M. (2010). Parental acceptance–rejection: A fourth cross-cultural research on parenting and psychological adjustment of children. *Journal Of Child And Family Studies*, *19*(1), 30-35. doi:10.1007/s10826-009-9338-y
- Egloff, B., Schmukle, S. C., Burns, L. R., & Schwerdtfeger, A. (2006). Spontaneous emotion regulation during evaluated speaking tasks: Associations with negative affect, anxiety expression, memory, and physiological responding. *Emotion*, *6*(3), 356-366. doi:10.1037/1528-3542.6.3.356
- Ehring, T., Fischer, S., Schnülle, J., Bösterling, A., & Tuschen-Caffier, B. (2008). Characteristics of emotion regulation in recovered depressed versus never depressed individuals.

 Personality And Individual Differences, 44(7), 1574-1584.

 doi:10.1016/j.paid.2008.01.013
 - Ehring, T., Tuschen-Caffier, B., Schnülle, J., Fischer, S., & Gross, J. J. (2010). Emotion regulation and vulnerability to depression: Spontaneous versus instructed use of emotion suppression and reappraisal. *Emotion*, *10*(4), 563-572. doi:10.1037/a0019010
 - Eisenberg, N., Fabes, R. A., Shepard, S. A., Guthrie, I. K., Murphy, B. C., & Reiser, M. (1999). Parental reactions to children's negative emotions: Longitudinal relations to quality of children's social functioning. *Child Development*, 70(2), 513-534. doi:10.1111/1467-8624.00037
 - Eisenberg, N., Zhou, Q., Spinrad, T. L., Valiente, C., Fabes, R. A., & Liew, J. (2005).

 Relations Among Positive Parenting, Children's Effortful Control, and Externalizing

- Problems: A Three-Wave Longitudinal Study. *Child Development*, 76(5), 1055-1071. doi:10.1111/j.1467-8624.2005.00897.x
- Erikson, E. (1968). *Identity: youth and crisis*. Oxford, England: Norton & Co.
- Fabes, R. A., Eisenberg, N., & Miller, P. A. (1990). Maternal correlates of children's vicarious emotional responsiveness. *Developmental Psychology*, *26*(4), 639-648. doi:10.1037/0012-1649.26.4.639
- Fava, G. A. (1983). Assessing depressive symptoms across cultures: Italian validation of the CES-D Self-Rating Scale. *Journal Of Clinical Psychology*, *39*(2), 249-251. doi:10.1002/1097-4679(198303)39:2<249::AID-JCLP2270390218>3.0.CO;2-Y
- Feng, X., Keenan, K., Hipwell, A. E., Henneberger, A. K., Rischall, M. S., Butch, J., & ... Babinski, D. E. (2009). Longitudinal associations between emotion regulation and depression in preadolescent girls: Moderation by the caregiving environment. *Developmental Psychology*, 45(3), 798-808. doi:10.1037/a0014617
- Fernandez-Berrocal, P., Extremera, N., & Ramos, N. (2004). Validity and Reliability of the Spanish Modified Version of the Trait Meta-Mood Scale. *Psychological Reports*, 94(3,Pt1), 751-755. doi:10.2466/PR0.94.3.751-755
- Ferrari, J. R., & Olivette, M. J. (1994). Parental authority and the development of female dysfunctional procrastination. *Journal Of Research In Personality*, *28*(1), 87-100. doi:10.1006/jrpe.1994.1008

- Folk, J. B., Zeman, J. L., Poon, J. A., & Dallaire, D. H. (2014). A longitudinal examination of emotion regulation: Pathways to anxiety and depressive symptoms in urban minority youth. *Child And Adolescent Mental Health*, *19*(4), 243-250. doi:10.1111/camh.12058
- Forehand, R., & Nousiainen, S. (1993). Maternal and paternal parenting: Critical dimensions in adolescent functioning. *Journal Of Family Psychology*, 7(2), 213-221. doi:10.1037/0893-3200.7.2.213
- Fletcher, A. C., & Jefferies, B. C. (1999). Parental mediators of associations between perceived authoritative parenting and early adolescent substance use. *The Journal Of Early Adolescence*, *19*(4), 465-487. doi:10.1177/0272431699019004003
- Frankel, K. A., & Bates, J. E. (1990). Mother-toddler problem solving: Antecedents in attachment, home behavior, and temperament. *Child Development*, *61*(3), 810-819. doi:10.2307/1130965
- Freeman, E. W., Sammel, M. D., Lin, H., & Nelson, D. B. (2006). Associations of hormones and menopausal status with depressed mood in women with no history of depression. *Archives Of General Psychiatry*, *63*(4), 375-382. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.63.4.375
- Fronk, C., Huntington, R. L., & Chadwick, B. A. (1999). Expectations for traditional family roles: Palestinian adolescents in the West Bank and Gaza. *Sex Roles*, *41*(9-10), 705-735. doi:10.1023/A:1018868010058

- Garber, J., Robinson, N. S., & Valentiner, D. (1997). The relation between parenting and adolescent depression: Self-worth as a mediator. *Journal Of Adolescent Research*, *12*(1), 12-33. doi:10.1177/0743554897121003
- García, F., & Gracia, E. (2009). Is always authoritative the optimum parenting style? Evidence from Spanish families. *Adolescence*, *44*(173), 101-131.
 - Garg, R., Levin, E., Urajnik, D., & Kauppi, C. (2005). Parenting Style and Academic Achievement for East Indian and Canadian Adolescents. *Journal Of Comparative Family Studies*, *36*(4), 653-661.
 - Gralinski, J. H., & Kopp, C. B. (1993). Everyday rules for behavior: Mothers' requests to young children. *Developmental Psychology*, 29(3), 573-584. doi:10.1037/0012-1649.29.3.573
 - Green, K., Broome, H., & Mirabella, J. (2006). Postnatal depression among mothers in the United Arab Emirates: Socio-cultural and physical factors. *Psychology, Health & Medicine*, 11(4), 425-431. doi:10.1080/13548500600678164
 - Grolnick, W. S., & Farkas, M. (2002). Parenting and the development of children's self-regulation. In M. H. Bornstein, M. H. Bornstein (Eds.), *Handbook of parenting:*Vol. 5: Practical issues in parenting (2nd ed.) (pp. 89-110). Mahwah, NJ, US:

 Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Publishers.
 - Gross, J. J., & Muñoz, R. F. (1995). Emotion regulation and mental health. *Clinical psychology: Science and practice*, *2*(2), 151-164.

- Gross, J. J. (1998). Antecedent- and response-focused emotion regulation: Divergent consequences for experience, expression, and physiology. *Journal Of Personality And Social Psychology*, 74(1), 224-237. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.74.1.224
- Gross, J. J. (2002). Emotion regulation: Affective, cognitive, and social consequences. *Psychophysiology*, 39(3), 281-291. doi:10.1017/S0048577201393198
- Gross, J. J., & John, O. P. (2003). Individual differences in two emotion regulation processes: Implications for affect, relationships, and well-being. *Journal Of Personality And Social Psychology*, 85(2), 348-362. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.85.2.348
- Hardy, D. F., Power, T. G., & Jaedicke, S. (1993). Examining the relation of parenting to children's coping with everyday stress. *Child Development*, *64*(6), 1829-1841. doi:10.2307/1131472
- Halberstadt, A. G., Crisp, V. W., & Eaton, K. L. (1999). Family expressiveness: A retrospective and new directions for research. In P. Philippot, R. S. Feldman, E. J. Coats, P. Philippot, R. S. Feldman, E. J. Coats (Eds.), *The social context of nonverbal behavior* (pp. 109-155). New York, NY, US; Paris, France: Cambridge University Press.
- Harkness, S., & Super, C. M. (1992). Parental ethnotheories in action. In I. E. Sigel, A. V.McGillicuddy-DeLisi, J. J. Goodnow, I. E. Sigel, A. V. McGillicuddy-DeLisi, J. J.Goodnow (Eds.), Parental belief systems: The psychological consequences for

- *children (2nd ed.)* (pp. 373-391). Hillsdale, NJ, England: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc.
- Hart, C. H., Newell, L. D., & Olsen, S. F. (2003). Parenting skills and social-communicative competence in childhood. In J. O. Greene, B. R. Burleson, J. O. Greene, B. R.
 Burleson (Eds.), *Handbook of communication and social interaction skills* (pp. 753-797). Mahwah, NJ, US: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Publishers.
- Heller, T. L., Baker, B. L., Henker, B., & Hinshaw, S. P. (1996). Externalizing behavior and cognitive functioning from preschool to first grade: Stability and predictors. *Journal Of Clinical Child Psychology*, 25(4), 376-387. doi:10.1207/s15374424jccp2504_3
- Henry, H. M., Stiles, W. B., Biran, M. W., & Hinkle, S. (2008). Perceived parental acculturation behaviors and control as predictors of subjective well-being in Arab American college students. *The Family Journal*, *16*(1), 28-34. doi:10.1177/1066480707309126
- Hilt, L. M., & Nolen-Hoeksema, S. (2014). Gender differences in depression. In I. H.
 Gotlib, C. L. Hammen, I. H. Gotlib, C. L. Hammen (Eds.), *Handbook of depression*(3rd ed.) (pp. 355-373). New York, NY, US: Guilford Press
- Hirschfeld, R. A., Hasin, D., Keller, M. B., Endicott, J., & Wunder, J. (1990). Depression and alcoholism: Comorbidity in a longitudinal study. In J. D. Maser, C. R. Cloninger, J. D. Maser, C. R. Cloninger (Eds.), *Comorbidity of mood and anxiety disorders* (pp. 293-303). Arlington, VA, US: American Psychiatric Association.

- Hui, C. H., & Triandis, H. C. (1986). Individualism-collectivism: A study of cross-cultural researchers. *Journal Of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, 17(2), 225-248. doi:10.1177/0022002186017002006
- Husaini, B. A., Neff, J. A., Harrington, J. B., Hughes, M. D., & Stone, R. H. (1980).

 Depression in rural communities: Validating the CES-D scale. *Journal Of Community Psychology*, 8(1), 20-27. doi:10.1002/1520-6629(198001)8:1<20::AID-JCOP2290080105>3.0.CO;2-Y
- Jambunathan, S., & Counselman, K. P. (2002). Parenting attitudes of Asian Indian mothers living in the United States and in India. *Early Child Development And Care*, *172*(6), 657-662. doi:10.1080/03004430215102
- Jamieson, J. P., Nock, M. K., & Mendes, W. B. (2012). Mind over matter: Reappraising arousal improves cardiovascular and cognitive responses to stress. *Journal Of Experimental Psychology: General*, *141*(3), 417-422. doi:10.1037/a0025719
- Jewell, J. D., & Stark, K. D. (2003). Comparing the family environments of adolescents with conduct disorder or depression. *Journal Of Child And Family Studies*, *12*(1), 77-89. doi:10.1023/A:1021310226400
- John, O. P., & Gross, J. J. (2004). Healthy and unhealthy emotion regulation: Personality processes, individual differences, and life span development. *Journal Of Personality*, 72(6), 1301-1333. doi:10.1111/j.1467-6494.2004.00298.x

- Joormann, J., & Gotlib, I. H. (2010). Emotion regulation in depression: Relation to cognitive inhibition. *Cognition And Emotion*, *24*(2), 281-298. doi:10.1080/02699930903407948
- Joormann, J., & Vanderlind, W. M. (2014). Emotion regulation in depression: The role of biased cognition and reduced cognitive control. *Clinical Psychological Science*, 2(4), 402-421. doi:10.1177/2167702614536163
- Kashima, Y., Yamaguchi, S., Kim, U., Choi, S., Gelfand, M. J., & Yuki, M. (1995).
 Culture, gender, and self: A perspective from individualism-collectivism research.
 Journal Of Personality And Social Psychology, 69(5), 925-937. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.69.5.925
- Keller, H., & Otto, H. (2009). The cultural socialization of emotion regulation during infancy. *Journal Of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, 40(6), 996-1011. doi:10.1177/0022022109348576
- Kendler, K. S., Heath, A., Martin, N. G., & Eaves, L. J. (1986). Symptoms of anxiety and depression in a volunteer twin population: The etiologic role of genetic and environmental factors. *Archives Of General Psychiatry*, 43(3), 213-221.
 doi:10.1001/archpsyc.1986.01800030023002
- Kendler, K. S., Gardner, C. O., Neale, M. C., & Prescott, C. A. (2001). Genetic risk factors for major depression in men and women: Similar or different heritabilities and same or partly distinct genes?. *Psychological Medicine*, 31(4), 605-616. doi:10.1017/S0033291701003907

- Kessler, R. C., & Walters, E. E. (1998). Epidemiology of DSM-III-R major depression and minor depression among adolescents and young adults in the national comorbidity survey. *Depression and anxiety*, 7(1), 3-14.
- Kopp, C. B. (1989). Regulation of distress and negative emotions: A developmental view. *Developmental Psychology*, 25(3), 343-354. doi:10.1037/0012-1649.25.3.343
- Kwon, H., Yoon, K. L., Joormann, J., & Kwon, J. (2013). Cultural and gender differences in emotion regulation: Relation to depression. *Cognition And Emotion*, *27*(5), 769-782. doi:10.1080/02699931.2013.792244
- Lamb, M. E., Pleck, J. H., Charnov, E. L., & Levine, J. A. (1987). A biosocial perspective on paternal behavior and involvement. In J. B. Lancaster, J. Altmann, A. S. Rossi, L. R. Sherrod, J. B. Lancaster, J. Altmann, ... L. R. Sherrod (Eds.), *Parenting across the life span: Biosocial dimensions* (pp. 111-142). Hawthorne, NY, US: Aldine Publishing Co.
- Lamborn, S. D., Mounts, N. S., Steinberg, L., & Dornbusch, S. M. (1991). Patterns of competence and adjustment among adolescents from authoritative, authoritarian, indulgent, and neglectful families. *Child Development*, 62(5), 1049-1065. doi:10.2307/1131151
- Lee, C., Beckert, T. E., & Goodrich, T. R. (2010). The relationship between individualistic, collectivistic, and transitional cultural value orientations and adolescents' autonomy and identity status. *Journal Of Youth And Adolescence*, *39*(8), 882-893. doi:10.1007/s10964-009-9430-z

- Leung, K., Lau, S., & Lam, W. (1998). Parenting styles and academic achievement: A cross-cultural study. *Merrill-Palmer Quarterly*, *44*(2), 157-172.
- Liverant, G. I., Brown, T. A., Barlow, D. H., & Roemer, L. (2008). Emotion regulation in unipolar depression: The effects of acceptance and suppression of subjective emotional experience on the intensity and duration of sadness and negative affect.

 Behaviour Research And Therapy, 46(11), 1201-1209.

 doi:10.1016/j.brat.2008.08.001
- Maccoby, E. E., & Martin, J. A. (1983). Socialization in the context of the family: Parentchild interaction. In *Handbook of child psichology: Vol. 4. Socialization,* personality, and social development (pp. 1–102). doi:
- Markus, H. R., & Kitayama, S. (1991). Culture and the self: Implications for cognition, emotion, and motivation. *Psychological Review*, *98*(2), 224-253. doi:10.1037/0033-295X.98.2.224
- Marcus, M., Yasamy, M. T., van Ommeren, M., & Chisholm, D. (2012). Depression, a global public health concern. doi:
- Marsiglio, W., Amato, P., Day, R. D., & Lamb, M. E. (2000). Scholarship on fatherhood in the 1990s and beyond. *Journal Of Marriage And The Family*, 62(4), 1173-1191. doi:10.1111/j.1741-3737.2000.01173.x

- Martin, L. L., & Tesser, A. (1996). Some ruminative thoughts. In R. J. Wyer, R. J. Wyer (Eds.), *Ruminative thoughts* (pp. 1-47). Hillsdale, NJ, England: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc.
- Matsumoto, D. (1990). Cultural similarities and differences in display rules. *Motivation And Emotion*, *14*(3), 195-214. doi:10.1007/BF00995569
- Matsumoto, D., Takeuchi, S., Andayani, S., Kouznetsova, N., & Krupp, D. (1998). The contribution of individualism vs. collectivism to cross-national differences in display rules. *Asian Journal Of Social Psychology*, *1*(2), 147-165. doi:10.1111/1467-839X.00010
- Matsumoto, D., & Kupperbusch, C. (2001). Idiocentric and allocentric differences in emotional expression, experience, and the coherence between expression and experience. *Asian Journal Of Social Psychology*, 4(2), 113-131. doi:10.1111/j.1467-
- Matsumoto, D. (2006). Are Cultural Differences in Emotion Regulation Mediated by Personality Traits?. *Journal Of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, *37*(4), 421-437. doi:10.1177/0022022106288478
- Matsumoto, D., Yoo, S. H., & Nakagawa, S. (2008). Culture, emotion regulation, and adjustment. *Journal Of Personality And Social Psychology*, *94*(6), 925-937. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.94.6.925

- Mauss, I. B., Cook, C. L., & Gross, J. J. (2007). Automatic emotion regulation during anger provocation. *Journal Of Experimental Social Psychology*, *43*(5), 698-711. doi:10.1016/j.jesp.2006.07.003
- McKinney, C., Donnelly, R., & Renk, K. (2008). Perceived parenting, positive and negative perceptions of parents, and late adolescent emotional adjustment. *Child And Adolescent Mental Health*, *13*(2), 66-73. doi:10.1111/j.1475-3588.2007.00452.x
- Milevsky, A., Schlechter, M., Netter, S., & Keehn, D. (2007). Maternal and paternal parenting styles in adolescents: Associations with self-esteem, depression and life-satisfaction. *Journal Of Child And Family Studies*, *16*(1), 39-47. doi:10.1007/s10826-006-9066-5
- Miller, A. L., McDonough, S. C., Rosenblum, K. L., & Sameroff, A. J. (2002). Emotion regulation in context: Situational effects on infant and caregiver behavior. *Infancy*, 3(4), 403-433. doi:10.1207/S15327078IN0304_01
- Misra, R., & Aguillon, S. (2001). Predictors of health behaviors in rural adolescents. *Health Education*, *101*(1), 22-30. doi:10.1108/09654280110365208
- Möller-Leimkühler, A. M. (2002). Barriers to help-seeking by men: A review of sociocultural and clinical literature with particular reference to depression. *Journal Of Affective Disorders*, 71(1-3), 1-9. doi:10.1016/S0165-0327(01)00379-2
- Morris, A. S., Steinberg, L., Sessa, F. M., Avenevoli, S., Silk, J. S., & Essex, M. J. (2002).

 Measuring children's perceptions of psychological control: Developmental and

- conceptual considerations. In B. K. Barber, B. K. Barber (Eds.), *Intrusive* parenting: How psychological control affects children and adolescents (pp. 125-159). Washington, DC, US: American Psychological Association. doi:10.1037/10422-005
- Morris, A. S., Silk, J. S., Steinberg, L., Myers, S. S., & Robinson, L. R. (2007). The role of the family context in the development of emotion regulation. *Social Development*, *16*(2), 361-388. doi:10.1111/j.1467-9507.2007.00389.x
- Morrow, J., & Nolen-Hoeksema, S. (1990). Effects of responses to depression on the remediation of depressive affect. *Journal Of Personality And Social Psychology*, 58(3), 519-527. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.58.3.519
- Munayer, S. J., & Horenczyk, G. (2014). Multi group acculturation orientations in a changing context: Palestinian Christian Arab adolescents in Israel after the lost decade. *International Journal Of Psychology*, 49(5), 364-370. doi:10.1002/ijop.12058
- Oyserman, D., Coon, H. M., & Kemmelmeier, M. (2002). Rethinking individualism and collectivism: Evaluation of theoretical assumptions and meta-analyses.

 *Psychological Bulletin, 128(1), 3-72. doi:10.1037/0033-2909.128.1.3
- Parke, R. D., Burks, V. M., Carson, J. L., Neville, B., & Boyum, L. A. (1994). Family–peer relationships: A tripartite model. In R. D. Parke, S. G. Kellam, R. D. Parke, S. G. Kellam (Eds.), *Exploring family relationships with other social contexts* (pp. 115-145). Hillsdale, NJ, England: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc.

- Patock-Peckham, J. A., & Morgan-Lopez, A. A. (2007). College drinking behaviors:

 Mediational links between parenting styles, parental bonds, depression, and alcohol problems. *Psychology Of Addictive Behaviors*, *21*(3), 297-306. doi:10.1037/0893-164X.21.3.297
- Piko, B. F., & Balázs, M. Á. (2012). Control or involvement? Relationship between authoritative parenting style and adolescent depressive symptomatology. *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 21(3), 149-155. doi:10.1007/s00787-012-0246-0
- Pleck, J. (1997). Paternal involvement. *The role of the father in child development*, 66-104. doi:
- Power, T. G. (2004). Stress and Coping in Childhood: The Parents' Role. *Parenting:*Science And Practice, 4(4), 271-317. doi:10.1207/s15327922par0404_1
- Querido, J. G., Warner, T. D., & Eyberg, S. M. (2002). Parenting styles and child behavior in African American families of preschool children. *Journal Of Clinical Child And Adolescent Psychology*, 31(2), 272-277. doi:10.1207/153744202753604548
- Radloff, L. S. (1977). The CES-D Scale: A self-report depression scale for research in the general population. *Applied Psychological Measurement*, *1*(3), 385-401.
- Raval, V. V., Ward, R. M., Raval, P. H., & Trivedi, S. S. (2013). Confirmatory and exploratory factor analyses of Parental Authority Questionnaire in urban India.

 **Journal Of Child And Family Studies*, 22(5), 707-718. doi:10.1007/s10826-012-9624-y

- Ray, R. D., McRae, K., Ochsner, K. N., & Gross, J. J. (2010). Cognitive reappraisal of negative affect: Converging evidence from EMG and self-report. *Emotion*, 10(4), 587-592. doi:10.1037/a0019015
- Richards, J. M., & Gross, J. J. (2000). Emotion regulation and memory: The cognitive costs of keeping one's cool. *Journal Of Personality And Social Psychology*, 79(3), 410-424. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.79.3.410
- Rohner, R. P., & Pettengill, S. M. (1985). Perceived parental acceptance-rejection and parental control among Korean adolescents. *Child Development*, *56*(2), 524-528. doi:10.2307/1129739
- Rothrauff, T. C., Cooney, T. M., & An, J. S. (2009). Remembered parenting styles and adjustment in middle and late adulthood. *The Journals Of Gerontology: Series B:**Psychological Sciences And Social Sciences, 64B(1), 137-146.

 doi:10.1093/geronb/gbn008
- Rubin, K. H., Hastings, P., Chen, X., Stewart, S., & McNichol, K. (1998). Intrapersonal and maternal correlates of aggression, conflict, and externalizing problems in toddlers.
 Child Development, 69(6), 1614-1629. doi:10.2307/1132135
- Saito, I., Stephan, C. W., Stephan, W. G., & Morrison, S. L. (1996). The Cross-Cultural study of Emotional Expression in Japan and the United States: The Non-monolithic Nature of Individualism and Collectivism.

- Selby, E. A., Franklin, J., Carson-Wong, A., & Rizvi, S. L. (2013). Emotional cascades and self-injury: Investigating instability of rumination and negative emotion. *Journal Of Clinical Psychology*, 69(12), 1213-1227. doi:10.1002/jclp.21966
- Shucksmith, J., Hendry, L. B., & Glendinning, A. (1995). Models of parenting: Implications for adolescent well-being within different types of family contexts. *Journal Of Adolescence*, *18*(3), 253-270. doi:10.1006/jado.1995.1018
- Simons, R. L., Lin, K., Gordon, L. C., Brody, G. H., Murry, V., & Conger, R. D. (2002). Community differences in the association between parenting practices and child conduct problems. *Journal Of Marriage And Family*, *64*(2), 331-345. doi:10.1111/j.1741-3737.2002.00331.x
- Soto, J. A., Perez, C. R., Kim, Y., Lee, E. A., & Minnick, M. R. (2011). Is expressive suppression always associated with poorer psychological functioning? A cross-cultural comparison between European Americans and Hong Kong Chinese. *Emotion*, 11(6), 1450-1455. doi:10.1037/a0023340
- Srivastava, S., Tamir, M., McGonigal, K. M., John, O. P., & Gross, J. J. (2009). The social costs of emotional suppression: A prospective study of the transition to college.

 Journal Of Personality And Social Psychology, 96(4), 883-897.

 doi:10.1037/a0014755
- Stansbury, K., & Zimmermann, L. K. (1999). Relations among child language skills, maternal socializations of emotion regulation, and child behavior problems. *Child*

- Psychiatry And Human Development, 30(2), 121-142. doi:10.1023/A:1021954402840
- Steinberg, L., Lamborn, S. D., Dornbusch, S. M., & Darling, N. (1992). Impact of parenting practices on adolescent achievement: Authoritative parenting, school involvement, and encouragement to succeed. *Child Development*, *63*(5), 1266-1281. doi:10.2307/1131532
- Steinberg, L. (2001). We know some things: Parent–adolescent relationships in retrospect and prospect. *Journal Of Research On Adolescence*, 11(1), 1-19. doi:10.1111/1532-7795.00001
- Su, J. C., Lee, R. M., & Oishi, S. (2013). The role of culture and self-construal in the link between expressive suppression and depressive symptoms. *Journal Of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, *44*(2), 316-331. doi:10.1177/0022022112443413
- Suh, E. M., & Oishi, S. (2002). Subjective well-being across cultures. *Online readings in psychology and culture*, 10(1), 1.
- Sullivan, P. F., Neale, M. C., & Kendler, K. S. (2000). Genetic epidemiology of major depression: Review and meta-analysis. *The American Journal Of Psychiatry*, 157(10), 1552-1562. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.157.10.1552
- Targum, S. D., Nakagawa, A., & Sato, Y. (2013). A cross-cultural comparison study of depression assessments conducted in Japan. *Annals Of General Psychiatry*, 12doi:10.1186/1744-859X-12-9

- Teasdale, J. D., & Barnard, P. J. (1993). *Affect, cognition, and change: Re-modelling depressive thought*. Hillsdale, NJ, England: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc.
- Thompson, M., Ellis, R., & Wildavsky, A. (1990). Cultural theory. Westview Press.
- Thompson, R. A. (1994). Emotion regulation: A theme in search of definition. *Monographs Of The Society For Research In Child Development*, *59*(2-3), 25-52. doi:10.2307/1166137
- Tsai, W., Chang, E. C., Sanna, L. J., & Herringshaw, A. J. (2011). An examination of happiness as a buffer of the rumination–adjustment link: Ethnic differences between European and Asian American students. *Asian American Journal Of Psychology*, 2(3), 168-180. doi:10.1037/a0025319
- Tweed, R. G., White, K., & Lehman, D. R. (2004). Culture, stress, and coping: Internally-and externally-targeted control strategies of European Canadians, East Asian Canadians, and Japanese. *Journal Of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, *35*(6), 652-668. doi:10.1177/0022022104270109
- Uji, M., Sakamoto, A., Adachi, K., & Kitamura, T. (2014). The impact of authoritative, authoritarian, and permissive parenting styles on children's later mental health in Japan: Focusing on parent and child gender. *Journal Of Child And Family Studies*, 23(2), 293-302. doi:10.1007/s10826-013-9740-3
- Urry, H. L. (2009). Using reappraisal to regulate unpleasant emotional episodes: Goals and timing matter. *Emotion*, *9*(6), 782-797. doi:10.1037/a0017109

- Varela, R. E., Vernberg, E. M., Sanchez-Sosa, J. J., Riveros, A., Mitchell, M., &
 Mashunkashey, J. (2004). Parenting Style of Mexican, Mexican American, and
 Caucasian-Non-Hispanic Families: Social Context and Cultural Influences. *Journal Of Family Psychology*, 18(4), 651-657. doi:10.1037/0893-3200.18.4.651
- Volling, B. L., McElwain, N. L., & Miller, A. L. (2002). Emotion regulation in context: The jealousy complex between young siblings and its relations with child and family characteristics. *Child Development*, 73(2), 581-600. doi:10.1111/1467-8624.00425
- Watabe, A., & Hibbard, D. R. (2014). The influence of authoritarian and authoritative parenting on children's academic achievement motivation: A comparison between the United States and Japan. *North American Journal Of Psychology*, *16*(2), 359-382.
- Wolfradt, U., Hempel, S., & Miles, J. N. (2003). Perceived parenting styles, depersonalisation, anxiety and coping behaviour in adolescents. *Personality and individual differences*, *34*(3), 521-532.
- Wood, J. J., McLeod, B. D., Sigman, M., Hwang, W., & Chu, B. C. (2003). Parenting and childhood anxiety: Theory, empirical findings, and future directions. *Journal Of Child Psychology And Psychiatry*, 44(1), 134-151. doi:10.1111/1469-7610.00106
- Wright, K. B. (2005). Researching Internet-Based Populations: Advantages and
 Disadvantages of Online Survey Research, Online Questionnaire Authoring
 Software Packages, and Web Survey Services. *Journal Of Computer-Mediated Communication*, 10(3),

Yang, H., Kuo, Y., Wang, L., & Yang, C. (2014). Culture, parenting, and child behavioral problems: A comparative study of cross-cultural immigrant families and native-born families in Taiwan. *Transcultural Psychiatry*, *51*(4), 526-544. doi:10.1177/1363461514532306

APPENDICES

Table 1. Descriptive statistics and group comparisons of demographics, parenting styles, emotion regulation, and depression between Western samples (n=57) and Arab (n=26) samples.

Measure	Variable	Western	Arab	Test Statistics
Demographics	Sex	0.54	0.62	$\chi^2(1) = .0.09^{\dagger}$
	Age	21.25 (7.02)	27.38 (9.39)	t(81) = -3.32
PAQ	Permissive	26.23 (7.44)	23.42 (8.97)	t(81) = 1.49
	Authoritarian	31.14 (8.30)	34.88 (9.73)	t(81) = -1.81
	Authoritative	35.98 (9.34)	34.88 (10.10)	t(81) = 0.48
ERQ	Suppression	16.07 (4.57)	17.5 (5.93)	t(81) = -1.20
	Reappraisal	28.79 (6.83)	30.04 (5.32)	t(81) = -0.83
CES-D	Depression	17.09 (10.83)	20.04 (10.01)	t(81) = -1.18

Note. Sex = high value represents females; Age = high value represents higher age; PAQ= Parenting Authority Questionnaire; ERQ= Emotion Regulation Questionnaire; CES-D = Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale.

† p = .01

Table 2. Correlations among demographics characteristics, parenting styles, emotion regulation, and depression between Western sample (lower triangle) and Arab sample (upper triangle).

	Sex	Age	Permissive	Authoritarian	Authoritative	Suppression	Reappraisal	Depression
Sex		02	.07	.05	05	.44*	.25	08
Age	.21		19	.27	55**	.01	24	.52*
Permissive	21	34**		 76**	.40*	.49**	$.33^{\dagger}$	05
Authoritarian	.19	.08	30*		55**	18	28	.42*
Authoritative	10	18	.52**	03		.00	.12	33 [†]
Suppression	.11	16	.29*	.034	.01		$.30^{\dagger}$.03
Reappraisal	.01	$.23^{\dagger}$	02	04	.00	02		48*
Depression	14	09	.19	.21	03	.30*	22 [†]	

Note. Sex = high value represents females $*p \le .01, *p \le .05, †p \le .10$

Table 3. Multiple regression analysis of demographics, culture, and parenting style effects on depression.

	В	SE	β
Age	.18	.15	.14
Age Sex	-3.76^{\dagger}	2.23	17
Arab	1.33	2.45	.06
Permissive	.58**	.17	.44
Authoritarian	.58** .54***	.14	.45
Authoritative	22 [†]	.13	20

Note. Sex = high value represents females

^{***}p<.001
**p<.01
†p ≤ .10

Table 4. Multiple regression analysis of demographics, culture, and parenting style effects on suppression.

	В	SE	β
Age	04	.07	06
Sex	2.69**	1.04	.26
Arab	2.14^{\dagger}	1.15	.20
Permissive	.35***	.08	.55
Authoritarian	.08	.07	.13
Authoritative	12 [†]	.06	22

^{***}p<.001

^{**}*p*<.01
[†]*p* ≤ .1

Table 5. Multiple regression analysis of demographics, culture, and parenting style effects on reappraisal.

	В	SE	β
Age	.09	.10	.11
Age Sex	.99	1.51	.08
Arab	1.12	1.67	.08
Permissive	.06	.12	.07
Authoritarian	07	.10	10
Authoritative	.01	.09	.02

Note. Sex = high value represents females ***p<.001 **p<.01 † p ≤ .10

Table 6. Multiple regression analysis of demographics, culture, parenting style and emotion regulation effects on depression.

	В	SE	β
			_
Age	.24 [†]	.14	.19
Sex	-4.27^{\dagger}	2.21	20
Arab	1.07	2.39	.05
Permissive	.48**	.18	.36
Authoritarian	.48***	.13	.40
Authoritative	17	.13	16
Suppression	.36	.23	.17
Reappraisal	45**	.16	27

 $^{^{\}dagger}p \leq .10$

Table 7. Moderation of culture on the effects of permissive parenting style on emotional suppression.

	Step 1			Step 2		
	В	SE	β	В	SE	β
Age	04	.09	02	04	.10	42
Sex	2.69**	1.06	28.10	2.53**	1.05	27.35
Arab	2.14^{\dagger}	1.21	23.13	2.21 [†]	1.19	23.91
Permissive	.35**	.10	.22	.34***	.10	.19
Authoritarian	.08	.08	.05	.09	.08	.05
Authoritative	12	.07	06	11	.08	11
Arab* Permissive				.13	.16	.10
R^2	.27**			.28**		
ΔR^2				.01		

 $^{^{\}dagger}p \leq .10$

Table 8. Moderation of culture on the effects of authoritarian parenting style on emotional suppression.

	Step 1			Step 2		
	В	SE	β	В	SE	β
Age	04	.09	02	04	.10	-0.04
Sex	2.69**	1.06	28.10	2.68**	1.06	2.68
Arab	2.14^{\dagger}	1.21	23.13	2.15^{\dagger}	1.23	2.15
Permissive	.35***	.98	.22	.34***	.10	0.34
Authoritarian	.08	.08	.05	.08	.07	0.08
Authoritative	12	.07	06	11	.07	-0.11
Arab* Authoritarian				02	.15	02
R^2	.27***			.27**		
ΔR^2				0		

Table 9. Moderation of culture on the effects of authoritative parenting style on emotional suppression.

	Step 1			Step 2		
	В	SE	β	В	SE	β
Age	04	.09	02	03	.11	02
Sex	2.69**	1.06	28.10	2.66**	1.11	27.78
Arab	2.14^{\dagger}	1.21	23.13	2.11^{\dagger}	1.32	22.81
Permissive	.35***	.10	.22	.35***	.10	.22
Authoritarian	.08	.08	.05	.08	.08	.05
Authoritative	12	.07	06	12	.08	06
Arab* Authoritative				.04	.16	.04
R^2	.27**			.27**		
ΔR^2				0		

Table 10. Moderation of culture on the effects of permissive parenting style on emotional reappraisal.

	Step 1			Step 2		
	В	SE	β	В	SE	β
Age	.09	.16	.07	.08	.15	.06
Sex	.99	1.63	13.09	.77	1.63	10.18
Arab	1.12	1.68	15.33	1.22	1.77	16.70
Permissive	.06	.11	.05	.05	.12	.04
Authoritarian	07	.10	05	05	.10	04
Authoritative	.01	.10	.01	.02	.10	.01
Arab* Permissive				.17	.19	.10
R^2	.04			.05		
ΔR^2				.01		

Table 11. Moderation of culture on the effects of authoritarian parenting style on emotional reappraisal.

_	Step 1			Step 2		
	В	SE	β	В	SE	β
Age	.09	.16	.07	.09	.16	.07
Sex	.99	1.63	13.09	.89	1.63	11.77
Arab	1.12	1.68	15.33	1.22	1.75	16.70
Permissive	.06	.11	.05	.04	.12	.03
Authoritarian	07	.10	05	07	.10	05
Authoritative	.01	.98	.01	.10	.10	.07
Arab*				12	.17	08
Authoritarian						
R^2	.04			.04		
ΔR^2				0		

Table 12. Moderation of culture on the effects of authoritative parenting style on emotional reappraisal.

•	Step 1			Step 2			
	В	SE	β	В	SE	β	
Age	.09	.16	.07	.09	.16	.07	
Sex	.99	1.63	13.09	.93	1.63	12.30	
Arab	1.12	1.68	15.33	1.06	1.72	14.51	
Permissive	.06	.11	.05	.07	.12	.06	
Authoritarian	07	.10	05	06	.10	04	
Authoritative	.01	.10	.01	.01	.10	.01	
Arab*				.07	.16	.05	
Authoritative							
R^2	.04			.04			
ΔR^2				0			

Note. Sex = high value represents females

^{***} $p \le .001$ ** $p \le .01$ † $p \le .10$

Table 13. Moderation of culture on the effects of permissive parenting style on depression

	Step 1		Step 2			
	В	SE	β	В	SE	β
Age	.24	.16	.31	.21	.17	.27
Sex	-4.27	2.63	-93.78	-3.63	2.61	-79.72
Arab	1.07	2.40	24.32	1.92	2.53	43.65
Permissive	.48**	.17	.64	.52**	.19	.69
Authoritarian	.48***	.14	.57	.47**	.17	.56
Authoritative	17	.11	19	18	.12	20
Suppression	.36	.31	.76	.39	.32	.82
Reappraisal	45**	.18	75	49**	.16	81
Arab* Suppression				49	.51	11
Arab* Reappraisal				45	.37	13
Arab* Permissive				.14	.36	.05
R^2	.33***			.36***		
ΔR^2				.03		

Table 14. Moderation of culture on the effects of authoritarian parenting style on depression

	Step 1		Step 2			
	В	SE	β	В	SE	β
Age	.24	.16	.24	.22	.17	.28
Sex	-4.27	2.63	-4.27	-3.52	2.60	-77.31
Arab	1.07	2.40	1.07	1.54	2.46	35.01
Permissive	.48**	.17	.48	.53**	.19	.70
Authoritarian	.48***	.14	.48	.46**	.14	.55
Authoritative	17	.11	17	18	.11	20
Suppression	.36	.31	.36	.39	.32	.82
Reappraisal	45**	.18	45	48**	.16	80
Arab* Suppression				40	.51	09
Arab* Reappraisal				38	.35	10
Arab* Authoritarian				.14	.29	.05
R^2	.33***			.36***		
ΔR^2				.03		

Table 15: Moderation of culture on the effects of authoritative parenting style on depression.

	Step 1					
	В	SE	β	В	SE	β
Age	.24	.16	.31	.23	.18	.29
Sex	-4.27	2.63	-93.78	-3.66	2.61	-80.38
Arab	1.07	2.40	24.32	1.65	2.57	37.51
Permissive	.48**	.17	.64	.54**	.19	.72
Authoritarian	.48***	.14	.57	.48**	.15	.57
Authoritative	17	.11	19	19	.12	21
Suppression	.35	.31	.74	.39	.32	.82
Reappraisal	44**	.18	73	49**	.17	81
Arab*				41	.53	09
Suppression						
Arab*				43	.37	12
Reappraisal						
Arab*				.12	.26	.05
Authoritative						
R^2	.33***			.36***		
ΔR^2				.03		